**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**NO. 17-1803**

---

**RICKIE RILEA  
TIMOTHY RILEY**

**Petitioners-Appellees,**

**vs.**

**IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,**

**Respondent-Appellant.**

---

**Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Polk County  
The Honorable Eliza Ovrom, Judge**

---

**RESPONDENT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

---

**THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa**

**DAVID S. GORHAM  
Special Assistant Attorney General  
(515) 239-1711  
david.gorham@iowadot.us**

**RICHARD E. MULL  
Assistant Attorney General  
(515) 239-1394  
richard.mull@iowadot.us**

**ROBIN G. FORMAKER  
Assistant Attorney General  
(515) 239-1465  
robin.formaker@iowadot.us**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

**THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DECLARING NO LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY EXISTED THAT WOULD JUSTIFY A DOT PEACE OFFICER'S EXERCISE OF ARREST AUTHORITY FOR AN OFFENSE UNRELATED TO OPERATING AUTHORITY, SIZE, WEIGHT, LOAD, AND OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED, EVEN WHEN THE OFFENSE WAS OBSERVED IN THE OFFICER'S PRESENCE.**

### Cases:

*Cady v. Dombrowski*, 413 U.S. 433, 93 S. Ct. 2523, 37 L. Ed.2d 706 (1973)

*City of Clinton v. Sheridan*, 530 N.W.2d 690 (Iowa 1995)

*Hildenbrand v. Cox*, 369 N.W.2d 411 (Iowa 1985)

*Iowa Ins. v. Core Group, Iowa Justice Ass'n*, 867 N.W.2d 58 (Iowa 2015)

*Leonard v. Iowa State Board of Education*, 471 N.W.2d 815 (Iowa 1991)

*Long v. Lauffer*, 797 N.W.2d 621 (Table), 2011 WL 222530

(Iowa App. 2011)

*Merchants Motor Freight v. Iowa State Highway Commission*,

239 Iowa 888, 32 N.W.2d 773 (1948)

*Midwest Automotive III, LLC v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 646 N.W.2d 417

(Iowa 2002)

*Radio Ass'n v. U.S. Dept. of Trans. Fed. HW. Admin.*,

47 F.3d 794, 797 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995)

*Rife v. D.T. Corner, Inc.*, 641 N.W.2d 761 (Iowa 2002)

*Salazar v. Luty*, 761 F. Supp. 45 (S.D. Tex. 1991)

*State v. Dentler*, 742 N.W.2d 84 (Iowa 2007)

*State v. Hedlund*, 662 N.W.2d 372 (Table), 2003 WL 190768

(Iowa App. 2003)

*State v. Lloyd*, 513 N.W.2d 742 (Iowa 1994)

*State v. Moore*, 609 N.W.2d 502, 504 (Iowa 2000)

*State v. O'Kelly*, 211 N.W.2d 589 (Iowa 1973), *cert. denied*, 417 U.S. 936,

94 S.Ct. 2652, 41 L.Ed.2d 240 (1974)

*State v. Pettijohn*, 899 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2017)

### Statutes and Other Authorities:

Iowa Code § 4.4(3) (2017)

Iowa Code § 4.4(5) (2017)

Iowa Code § 17A.9 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 17A.19(10)(l) (2017)  
Iowa Code § 17A.19(11)(c) (2017)  
Iowa Code § 80.9A(7) (2017)  
Iowa Code § 80.22 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 80B.6(1)(k) (2017)  
Iowa Code § 80B.11 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 80B.11B(2)(a) (2017)  
Iowa Code § 307.2 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 313.12 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 313.36 (2017)  
Iowa Code chapter 321 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 321.1(50) (2017)  
Iowa Code § 321.2 (1946)  
Iowa Code § 321.2(3) (2017)  
Iowa Code § 321.3 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 321.285 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 321.285(1) (2017)  
Iowa Code § 321.372 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 321.380 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 321.463 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 321.464 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 321.477 (1946)  
Iowa Code § 321.477 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 321.477 (as amended)  
Iowa Code § 321.477(1) (as amended)  
Iowa Code § 321.477(4) (as amended)  
Iowa Code chapter 321J (2017)  
Iowa Code chapter 321J (1989)  
Iowa Code § 321J.1(7)(e) (1989)  
Iowa Code § 321J.1(8)(e) (2017)  
Iowa Code § 701.2 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 755.5 (1946)  
Iowa Code § 801.1 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 801.4(11)(h) (2017)  
Iowa Code § 804.5 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 804.7 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 804.7(1) (2017)  
Iowa Code § 804.7(1)-(6) (2017)  
Iowa Code § 804.7(2) (2017)

Iowa Code § 804.9 (2017)  
Iowa Code § 804.9(1) (2017)  
Iowa Code § 804.17 (2017)  
Iowa Code §804.24 (2017)  
Iowa Code chapter 805 (2017)  
Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(b)  
Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d)  
1990 Iowa Op. Atty. Gen. 100 (Iowa A.G.), Opinion No. 90-12-8,  
1990 WL 484921  
1939 Iowa Acts, ch. 120  
1939 Iowa Acts, ch. 120, § 8  
1974 Iowa Acts ch. 1180, §§ 2 and 200  
2017 Iowa Acts ch. 149 (H.F. 463)  
2017 Iowa Acts ch. 149, § 3 (H.F. 463)  
6A C.J.S. *Arrest* § 12 (1975)  
FMCSA (Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration) *CMV Driving Tips –  
Too Fast For Conditions*,  
[https://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/safety/driver-safety/cm-v-driving-tips-too-fast-  
conditions](https://www.fmcsa.dot.gov/safety/driver-safety/cm-v-driving-tips-too-fast-conditions).  
Merriam Webster Collegiate Dictionary (Tenth Edition) (1993)  
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 121, comment d



## ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court for disposition because the issue presented is of broad public importance requiring its ultimate determination. Issues of public safety are implicated by the district court's ruling. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d).

The district court's rejection of the citizen's arrest doctrine, as applied by peace officers employed by the Iowa Department of Transportation (DOT), also conflicts with principles pertaining to citizen's arrest in *State v. Lloyd*, 513 N.W.2d 742 (Iowa 1994). *See also* Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(b).

*Lloyd* holds a citizen's arrest may be made under Iowa Code section 804.9(1) by a peace officer for any public offense attempted or committed in the officer's presence, including simple misdemeanor traffic offenses. Pursuant to *Lloyd*, a peace officer in making a citizen's arrest may use the "indicia" of his or her office to stop an individual's vehicle, meaning the officer may use the means and equipment available to police officers to make traffic stops such as activating the flashing lights of a patrol car. In addition, it is immaterial to perfecting the citizen's arrest whether the officer purports to act officially or as a private person. Under *Lloyd*, the officer may charge the individual by citation in lieu of taking the person into formal

custody for appearance before a magistrate. *See Lloyd*, 513 N.W.2d 743-745; *see also* Restatement (Second) of Torts § 121, comment d. The salutary holding of *Lloyd* should not be undermined.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

**Nature of the Case.** This matter arises from petitions for judicial review brought in the district court by petitioners, Rickie Rilea and Timothy Riley. Appendix (App.) pp. 184-193. The petitioners sought judicial review of declaratory orders DOT issued pursuant to Iowa Code section 17A.9 on April 26, 2017. App. pp. 76-183. Petitioners Rilea and Riley submitted their petitions for declaratory orders to DOT on March 30, 2017. App. pp. 40-75.

DOT held its peace officers, in addition to the arrest authority conferred upon them by Iowa Code section 321.477 (2017) applicable as of March 30, 2017, also possessed legal authority to stop vehicles, issue citations and, if need be, make arrests, for the following:

1. The offense of Operating While Intoxicated (OWI) in Iowa Code chapter 321J if the DOT officer had the requisite training called for by Iowa Code section 321J.1(8)(e).

2. Offenses pertaining to school bus safety under the “*Keep Aware Driving – Youth Need School Safety Act.*” *See* Iowa Code § 321.372; *see also* Iowa Code § 321.380 (making it the duty of “*all peace officers and of the state patrol to enforce the provisions of Iowa Code sections 321.372 to 321.379*”) (emphasis added).

3. For any public offense “observed” by a DOT officer in the officer’s presence, including traffic offenses, pursuant to the arrest authority conferred by Iowa Code section 804.9(1) (the citizen’s arrest doctrine), consistent with the interpretation of the Iowa Supreme Court in *State v. Lloyd*, 513 N.W.2d 742 (Iowa 1994).

DOT Declaratory Orders; App. pp. 118, 172.<sup>1</sup>

**Course of Proceedings in District Court.** Rilea’s petition for judicial review was filed in Polk County No. CVCV054155 on May 23, 2017; Riley’s petition for judicial review was filed in Polk County No. CVCV054156, also on May 23, 2017. On June 23, 2017, Judge Ovrom ordered the two actions consolidated into CVCV054155. Judge Ovrom on October 24, 2017, reversed DOT’s determination, declaring:

Before the May 2017 amendment to Section 321.477, the legislature had not conferred authority on IDOT MVE officers to issue citations for matters other than operating authority, registration, size, weight, and load, and the other limited exceptions discussed in note 3 above. Under the statute in effect at the relevant times, IDOT officers were not authorized to issue speeding citations; such authority lies with other designated peace officers.

---

<sup>1</sup>The DOT’s declaratory orders applied the law as it existed on March 30, 2017. App. pp. 77, 131. Iowa Code section 321.477 (2017) was subsequently amended effective May 11, 2017. *See* 2017 Iowa Acts ch. 149, § 3 (H.F. 463). Throughout this brief, DOT will cite “section 321.477 (2017)” to refer to the statute interpreted by DOT in its declaratory orders prior to the enactment’s amendment. By contrast, DOT will cite “section 321.477 (as amended)” when referring to the statute as amended by H.F. 463.

App. p. 264.<sup>2</sup>

On November 7, 2017, DOT filed its notice of appeal. App. pp. 267-269.

**Statement of the Facts.** Petitioners sought a ruling from DOT declaring the agency’s peace officers had no authority to stop motor vehicles for the enforcement of laws “beyond those laws relating to operating authority, registration, size, weight, and load.” App. pp. 40, 58. Petitioners asserted:

For approximately the past two or more years, the IDOT has maintained an internal policy whereby MVE patrol officers are directed to stop and detain any motorist *observed* violating Iowa law and issue citations to those motorists.

App. pp. 41, 59 (emphasis added).

Petitioners specified a DOT peace officer had “observed” each violation of law. Under those circumstances, meaning the witnessing of the commission of a public offense by a DOT officer, DOT ruled its officers had legal authority to stop a vehicle, issue a citation and, if need be, make an arrest for the public offense committed in an officer’s presence. *See generally*, App. pp. 117-123, 171-177.

---

<sup>2</sup>Judge Ovrom’s “limited exceptions” preserved the right to make arrests for OWI violations under Iowa Code chapter 321J, as well as allowing DOT peace officers to assist other non-DOT peace officers in making arrests in accordance with Iowa Code section 804.17. App. p. 257.

## ARGUMENT

**THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DECLARING NO LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY EXISTED THAT WOULD JUSTIFY A DOT PEACE OFFICER'S EXERCISE OF ARREST AUTHORITY FOR AN OFFENSE UNRELATED TO OPERATING AUTHORITY, SIZE, WEIGHT, LOAD, AND OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED, EVEN WHEN THE OFFENSE WAS OBSERVED IN THE OFFICER'S PRESENCE.**

**Error Preservation, Scope and Standard of Review.** Error was preserved by DOT. DOT urged the affirmance of DOT's declaratory orders before Judge Ovrom on October 6, 2017. *See* transcript (Tr.) of hearing, pp. 41-76. In addition, DOT on August 31, 2017, filed an eighty-five-page brief in the district court extensively outlining its position. All this followed DOT's issuance of two forty-eight page declaratory orders by DOT's director. App. pp. 76-183.

The scope of review for an agency determination is for correction of errors at law. *See, e.g., Midwest Automotive III, LLC v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 646 N.W.2d 417, 422 (Iowa 2002). It is a fundamental principle of administrative law that "administrative decisions are to be made by the agencies and not the courts." *Id.*, quoting *Leonard v. Iowa State Board of Education*, 471 N.W.2d 815, 815 (Iowa 1991).

Additionally, the petitioners' requests for declaratory orders implicated traffic offenses encompassed in Iowa Code chapter 321. The legislature has vested wide authority in DOT's director regarding matters in Iowa Code chapter 321, including the enforcement of its provisions. For instance, Iowa Code section 321.3 provides: "The director [DOT director] is hereby *vested with the power and is charged with the duty* of observing, administering, and enforcing the provisions of this chapter" (emphasis added).

Accordingly, though the final interpretation of the law rests with this Court, given the vesting of the power and duty to enforce the provisions of Iowa Code chapter 321 in DOT's director, the declaratory orders issued by Mr. Lowe should be given appropriate deference unless this Court finds his determinations "irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable." *See* Iowa Code §§ 17A.19(10)(l) and 17A.19(11)(c).

**A. Iowa Code section 804.9(1).**

The district court declared DOT peace officers may not issue citations for offenses beyond operating authority, registration, size, weight, load or operating while intoxicated because of Iowa Code section 321.477 (2017). The court declared "100 uniformed officers" were relying upon citizen's arrest powers "to exercise authority not given to them by the legislature, and

to issue thousands of citations outside their designated statutory authority.” App. p. 261. This conclusion necessarily meant Judge Ovrom found *nothing* in the Iowa Code that could ever possibly justify the DOT officers’ actions, even in the context of the facts posited by the petitioners which assumed violations of law were being “observed” in the officers’ presence.

Iowa law understandably aspires to achieve results that are reasonable and in accordance with public interest. This aspiration finds codification in various formulations throughout Iowa’s statute books. As just one example, Iowa Code section 4.4(3) declares it “presumed” the legislature intends a “just and reasonable result.” It is further presumed the legislature’s statutes are calculated so the “[p]ublic interest is favored over any private interest.” Iowa Code § 4.4(5).

The Iowa Supreme Court has long aligned itself with these same concepts. On any number of occasions, the Court has declared it will refrain from statutory interpretation “in a manner that leads to absurd results.” *Iowa Ins. v. Core Group, Iowa Justice Ass’n*, 867 N.W.2d 58, 75 (Iowa 2015). The Court wisely observed it necessary to “consider fact patterns other than the one before the court to determine if a particular statutory interpretation would have *untoward* consequences.” *Id.* (emphasis added). The pondering of the effects of rulings “is part of the judicial function – to consider

alternative statutory interpretations and see where those alternatives logically lead.” *Id.* at 76. The above authorities demonstrate the Iowa Supreme Court has long aligned itself on the side of “common sense.”

Iowa Code section 804.9(1) provides:

A private person may make an arrest:

1. For a public offense committed or attempted in the person’s presence.

At first blush, one might argue a peace officer is not a private person. DOT officers are peace officers. *See, e.g.*, §§ 801.4(11)(h) and 321J.1(8)(e). But Iowa’s appellate courts have declared a peace officer, who for some reason is otherwise lacking in general arrest authority, may nonetheless act to effectuate a citizen’s arrest if the offense has been “observed” by the officer, *i.e.*, if the crime has been attempted or committed in the officer’s presence. *See State v. Lloyd*, 513 N.W.2d 742 (Iowa 1994); *see also Rife v. D.T. Corner, Inc.*, 641 N.W.2d 761, 769 (Iowa 2002) (“in the person’s presence” requirement is liberally construed and is satisfied by simple sensory detection through sight, sound or smell). Though peace officers might not for whatever reason possess “official” arrest authority they do not “cease to be persons.” *State v. O’Kelly*, 211 N.W.2d 589, 595 (Iowa 1973), *cert. denied*, 417 U.S. 936, 94 S.Ct. 2652, 41 L.Ed.2d 240 (1974).



Thus, the Iowa Supreme Court in *Lloyd* held a South Dakota peace officer could rely upon the citizen's arrest statute in Iowa Code section 804.9(1) to make a traffic stop in Iowa because the arrest was "valid as a citizen's arrest under section 804.9(1) if made for a public offense committed in the officers' presence." 513 N.W.2d at 744. The officer had "observed" the violations. *Id.* at 742, 745. The Court held citizen's arrest could even be used to charge a defendant with low-level traffic offenses such as "failure to have lighted taillights" and "expired registration." *Id.* at 744. *See also Long v. Lauffer*, 797 N.W.2d 621 (Table), 2011 WL 222530, \*6-8 (Iowa App. 2011) (approving *State v. Lloyd's* analysis concerning Iowa Code section 804.9 to uphold a citizen's arrest made by an off-duty Polk County deputy sheriff).

In addition, the legislature, well before *Lloyd*, embraced citizen's arrest for use by peace officers. The state patrol, under Iowa Code section 80.22, has powers reserved to it by 1939 Iowa Acts, ch. 120. Interestingly, in 1939 Iowa Acts, ch. 120, section 8, state patrol officers were precluded from exercising "their general powers" inside the limits of "any city or town," subject to certain exceptions. However, the legislature provided its "limitations shall in no way be construed as a limitation as to their power as officers *when a public offense is being committed in their presence.*"

(emphasis added). In other words, the state patrol is permitted to make citizen's arrests. *See also* Iowa Code § 80.9A(7). The 1939 legislation, of course, predates the inclusion of DOT's officers as "Peace officers" under Iowa Code section 801.4(11)(h). But there should be no logical reason to think state patrol peace officers have citizen's arrest powers but DOT peace officers do not. Of course, DOT peace officers have the same citizen's arrest authority as anyone else.

The above is consistent with the long-standing principle a police officer who otherwise lacks official authority nonetheless has all the powers of arrest of a private person. 6A C.J.S. *Arrest* § 12, at 21 (1975). This, in turn, jives with Iowa precedent declaring no difference in the authority granted citizens to arrest under Iowa Code section 804.9(1) with the authority granted peace officers under Iowa Code section 804.7(1). In both instances, the law permits persons to make arrests when the offense is committed in their presence. *Rife v. D.T. Corner, Inc.*, 641 N.W.2d 761, 770 (Iowa 2002).

But the *Lloyd* case is particularly significant because it held a peace officer need not act as a private person in making a citizen's arrest. Instead, the officer may apply "indicia" of office to complete an arrest. 513 N.W.2d at 745. The officer does not have to shed the police uniform; switch from a

government-owned squad car to a private vehicle; or refrain from effectuating a traffic stop without using the squad car's flashing lights.

In summary, if a peace officer otherwise has general arrest authority, he or she may arrest for any offense committed in the officer's presence under Iowa Code section 804.7(1). But if in some situations that officer lacks arrest authority, officers still retain their private capacity and may arrest under the citizen's arrest authority conferred in Iowa Code section 804.9(1) for infractions attempted or committed in the officer's presence. The law has not left a gap.

Therefore, in view of Iowa Code section 804.9(1), the law's expressed intent to interpret statutes with the objective of achieving a just and reasonable result in the public interest, the existence of case authority such as *State v. Lloyd*, and the Iowa Supreme Court's expressed desire to avoid absurdity, consider the implications of the district court's ruling under the following fact patterns:

- A. What if a DOT officer on patrol in an interstate highway construction zone, where workers are present and where a family of four was recently killed because of a motorist traveling at an excessive rate of speed, observes a motorist traveling through the work zone going 89 miles per hour in the 55 mile-per-hour zone?
- B. What if a DOT officer observes a driver traveling eastbound in the westbound lanes of Interstate 80 at an excessive rate of speed?

- C. What if a DOT officer while entering a rest area along Interstate 35 observes a child being molested by an assailant?
- D. What if a DOT officer on patrol observes a fugitive from justice wanted on charges involving violent crimes?
- E. What if a DOT officer, upon exiting the courthouse after testifying in a case involving an overweight load infraction, observes a person in the courthouse parking lot punch one of the lawyers to the proceedings in the nose and overhears that same person making threats about what he intends to do to the judge?
- F. What if a DOT officer while traveling through a highway construction zone at night observes a semi being driven without any headlights or taillights activated?
- G. What if a DOT officer on duty at a weigh station observes a vehicle passing through the facility with a bountiful supply of illicit drugs in the vehicle?
- H. What if a DOT officer on routine patrol observes a shooting and witnesses the shooter fleeing the crime scene?
- I. What if a DOT officer observes a vehicle dangerously tailgating another vehicle on the highway in what appears to be a fit of road rage?
- J. What if a DOT officer observes a driver illegally pass a school bus stopped with the bus's stop arm and warning lights activated to let children exit the bus, and the errant driver hits a seven-year-old girl crossing the street and the motorist proceeds to leave the scene?

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