IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA NO. 17-1803

RICKIE RILEA AND TIMOTHY RILEY, Petitioners-Appellees

VS.

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY, HONORABLE ELIZA OVROM

PETITIONERS-APPELLEES' BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Brandon Brown
Gina Messamer
Parrish Kruidenier Dunn Boles Gribble
Gentry Brown & Bergmann L.L.P.
2910 Grand Avenue
Des Moines, Iowa 50312

Telephone: (515) 284-5737 Facsimile: (515) 284-1704

Email: <u>bbrown@parrishlaw.com</u> gmessamer@parrishlaw.com

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

Id. at *2. The Attorney General also recognized that the "limitation on the power of arrest also, of course, would apply to other aspects of the enforcement power of DOT peace officers, i.e., the issuance of citations, the execution of warrants, and the seizure of evidence." *Id.* n.1 at *2.

On the second question, the Attorney General opined that IDOT peace officers are authorized to enforce OWI laws, per Iowa Code § 321J.7(e), so long as they are properly trained. Petitioners do not dispute this. The Attorney General does discuss citizen's arrest power as further authorization for OWI

enforcement by IDOT peace officers. The Attorney General apparently did not believe, however, that the citizen's arrest power had any bearing on the first question, likely because *Merchants Motor* had rejected that concept.

8. Summary of law applicable until May 11, 2017.

Merchants Motor's interpretation of Iowa Code § 321.477 controls this case. Though the IDOT has subsumed the State Highway Commission, the applicable statutes did not otherwise materially change between the *Merchants Motor* opinion and 2016.¹⁰ It is the State Patrol that is responsible for enforcing the provisions of Chapter 321 "relating to traffic on the public highways of the state, including those relating to the safe and legal operation of passenger cars, motorcycles, motor trucks and buses, and to see that proper safety rules are observed." *Id.* § 321.2 (2016). The State Patrol is still situated within the DPS. Iowa Code § 80.9 (2016). Departments other than the DPS—which would include the IDOT—are expressly prohibited from exercising general police powers. *Id.* § 80.22 (2016).¹¹

¹⁰ A chart comparing the relevant statutes as they existed at the time of *Merchants Motor* and as they existed in 2016 is provided at the end of this brief.

¹¹ Iowa Code §§ 80.1A, 80.15, 97A.1, and 804.11(c) (2016) all provide the definition of peace officer for purposes of the DPS.

While the scope of Iowa Code § 321.477 is broader than it was in 1948, none of the additions to that statute authorize enforcement of speed restrictions. Iowa Code § 321.477 (2016) grants Chapter 321 peace officers enforcement authority "relating to the *operating authority, registration*, size, weight, and load of motor vehicles and trailers *and registration of a motor carrier's interstate transportation service with the department*." Iowa Code § 321.477 (2016) (additional scope of authority emphasized). General traffic enforcement, including enforcement of speed restrictions, remains outside the scope of § 321.477.

The definition of "peace officer" in Iowa Code § 321.1 also remains materially unchanged from the time of *Merchants Motor*. At the time of *Merchants Motor*, Iowa Code § 321.1 defined "peace officer" as "every officer authorized to direct or regulate traffic or to make arrests for violations of traffic regulations in addition to its meaning in section 748.3." Iowa Code § 321.1 (1946). Iowa Code § 748.3, situated in the Iowa Code Chapter governing criminal procedure, defined "peace officers" as (1) sheriffs and sheriffs' deputies, (2) constables, (3) marshals and policemen of cities and towns, (4) special agents working for the DPS, and (5) other individuals as designated by law. Iowa Code § 748.3 (1946). The definition of "peace officer" is now found at Iowa Code § 321.1(50) (2016) and the criminal

procedure chapter definition is found at Iowa Code § 801.4(11) (2016). The list of individuals considered peace officers under Iowa Code § 801.4(11) (2016) is more expansive than the 1946 code—but none of the additions impact the IDOT's enforcement authority. *See* Iowa Code § 801.4(11) (2016) (now listing parole officers, probation officers, security officers working for the board of regents, aviation authority officers, and conservation officers).

Iowa Code § 801.4(11) now explicitly acknowledges IDOT-designated peace officers as "peace officers" for purposes of Chapter 801, Criminal Procedure. But Iowa Code § 801.4(11)(h) defines "peace officer" to include "[s]uch employees of the department of transportation as are designated 'peace officers' by resolution of the department <u>under section 321.477."</u> (Emphasis added). Iowa Code § 801.4(11)(h) thus directs back to § 321.477, which by its plain language (confirmed by the *Merchants Motor* Court) grants only limited enforcement powers to the IDOT.

II. Iowa Code chapter 804 does not authorize the IDOT policy of motor vehicles for the purpose of enforcing traffic laws beyond those laws relating to operating authority, registration, size, weight, and load.

Having conceded it has no general arrest authority, the IDOT instead justifies its policy of enforcing laws outside the scope of Iowa Code § 321.477 as an exercise of citizen's arrest authority. The IDOT suggests that its employees—State employees labeled by the IDOT as so-called "peace"

officers" and equipped with uniforms, badges, weapons, radar detectors, marked vehicles, flashing overhead lights, and sirens—are completing citizen's arrests when they effectuate the IDOT's policy to detain and cite those observed violating speeding laws. An *official law enforcement policy* of citizen's arresting. The absurdity is self-evident. Such absurdity "is a 'stop' sign in the judicial interpretation of statutes." *Schonberger v. Roberts*, 456 N.W.2d 201, 203 (Iowa 1990). Like the district court, this Court should reject the IDOT's absurd argument and rule that the IDOT's policy of stopping motorists for violations unrelated to operating authority, registration, size, weight, and load was illegal under *Merchants Motor* and the plain language of Iowa Code §§ 80.22, 21.2, 321.477, and 804.24.

1. Plain language of Chapter 804 does not authorize IDOT's policy.

Iowa Code Chapter 804 differentiates between <u>citizen's arrest</u>, Iowa Code § 804.9, and <u>arrest by a peace officer</u>, Iowa Code § 804.7. Iowa Code § 804.9 provides:

A <u>private person</u> may make an arrest:

- 1. For a public offense committed or attempted in the person's presence.
- 2. When a felony has been committed, and the person has reasonable ground for believing that the person to be arrested has committed it.

Iowa Code § 804.9 (emphasis added). This is commonly referred to as a citizen's arrest. Under Iowa Code § 804.24, "[a] private citizen who has arrested another for the commission of an offense must, without unnecessary delay, take the arrested person before a magistrate, or deliver the arrested person to a peace officer, who may take the arrested person before a magistrate, but the person making the arrest must also accompany the officer before the magistrate." Iowa Code § 804.24; *see also Rife v. D.T. Corner, Inc.*, 641 N.W.2d 761, 770 (Iowa 2002) (recognizing the necessity of compliance with Iowa Code § 804.24).

The IDOT has run afoul of these statutes in two ways. One, IDOT employees were not taking motorists before a magistrate or delivering the motorists to a peace officer and accompanying the peace officer before the magistrate. IDOT employees were issuing citations to motorists directly. This is a power not granted to private persons, which illustrates that IDOT employees were not acting as private persons.

Two, IDOT employees were not acting as "private persons" when they issued citations unrelated to operating authority, registration, size, weight, and load. They were acting in their official capacities as officers of the IDOT. IDOT employees used State-issued equipment—uniforms, badges, weapons, radar detectors, marked vehicles, flashing overhead lights, and sirens—and

asserted the authority of the State when they detained and cited Iowa motorists. A citizen who observed a violation of a traffic law would not have the ability to pull another motorist over and run that motorist's license and registration through a law enforcement database. See State v. Lloyd, 513 N.W.2d 742, 745 (Iowa 1994) ("Although a private citizen would have had the authority to arrest [a motorist] for the public offense of driving with defective taillights, such a private citizen would have lacked the means to flag [a motorist] down and ensure that the violation be sanctioned."; see also Iowa Code § 321.433 (prohibiting sirens on unauthorized vehicles); See People v. Lahr, 147 Ill. 2d 379, 383 (1992) ("We believe it is generally true that the use of radar guns for monitoring the speed of traffic is limited to police officers. Therefore, despite the fact that this type of radar equipment is not strictly limited to police officers, we believe its use in this case was an assertion of the officer's police authority."). Iowa Code § 804.9 thus does not apply. The district court was correct when it ruled IDOT employees "are not acting as private persons, but state actors." (App. 259).

By the IDOT's logic, the IDOT could adopt a policy of enforcing any laws it wished under the guise of the citizen's arrest statute. The IDOT could send MVE officers to college bars to cite individuals for underage drinking. MVE officers could patrol the aisles of Wal-Mart to crack down on theft.

These non-DPS officers could duplicate the efforts of actual DPS officers. No doubt this is not what the legislature intended.

Similarly, by the IDOT's logic, *any* state agency could begin patrolling Iowa roadways and issuing traffic citations under citizen's arrest authority. Again, there can be no doubt this was not contemplated by the legislature. As the district court aptly noted:

A logical extension of IDOT's argument would allow other state agencies to designate employees to make citizen's arrests for traffic violations committed in their presence. Counsel for IDOT stated he did not believe that other state agencies could do so. This undercuts IDOT's argument in this case.

(App. 259, n.4). The IDOT's policy cannot be ratified by Iowa Code § 804.9.

2. Merchants Motors rejected citizen's arrest defense.

The citizen's arrest defense raised was explicitly rejected by the Iowa Supreme Court in *Merchants Motor* for exactly the reasons above. (*See also* App. 258 (recognizing this). In *Merchants Motor*, the State Highway Commission argued that their actions were justified as a citizen's arrest. The Supreme Court disagreed:

Appellants state that even though no statutory authorization exists for enforcing the motor vehicle laws, as to license and registration, a violation thereof constitutes a misdemeanor, Section 321.17. That when committed in his presence any person may arrest, and the fact that the defendants are clothed with the authority of peace officers, does not prevent them from acting as individuals. This no doubt is true, but is not a question presented here for determination. *The record clearly shows that defendants*

acted, and in the future will act, officially and under orders from the Highway Commission. Furthermore, the appellants do not threaten arrests and have not arrested. They have issued summonses which are not authorized by Section 755.5. ¹² There is not merit in this contention.

Merchants Motor, 32 N.W.2d at 776 (emphasis added).

To summarize, *Merchants Motor* rejected the citizen's arrest defense because 1) IDOT employees were acting in an official capacity pursuant to an official policy—not as private citizens; 2) IDOT employees do not arrest or threaten arrests, which is the only thing authorized by the citizen's arrest statute; and 3) IDOT employees are issuing citations, which are not authorized by the citizen's arrest statute.

In its Rulings, the IDOT incorrectly concluded *Merchants Motor* did not address whether citizen's arrest validated enforcement actions beyond the scope of § 321.477. (App. 109, 163). In its appeal brief, the IDOT again emphasizes the language in *Merchants Motor* stating "This is no doubt true, but is not a question presented here for determination." (IDOT Brief at 33, 55). Based on this language, the IDOT suggests that a citizen's arrest defense was not an issue decided by *Merchants Motor*. But that quotation must be read

¹² Iowa Code § 755.5 (1946) was the citizen's arrest code section. That code section is identical to the current Iowa Code § 804.9 (2016), except for the gendered pronouns. Iowa Code § 755.14 (1946) is also identical to Iowa Code § 804.24 (2016).

in context. The Iowa Supreme Court's discussion of the citizen's arrest defense is found under roman numeral II, indicating it is a distinct issue. The sole paragraph under roman numeral II (quoted in its entirety above) pertains to the applicability of a citizen's arrest defense.

The *Merchants Motor* Court begins its discussion by acknowledging the State Highway Commission argument that citizen's arrest validated enforcement actions beyond the scope of § 321.477. The Court accepts that a peace officer retains the authority to effectuate a citizen's arrest even though "clothed with the authority of peace officers." *Merchants Motor*, 32 N.W.2d at 776. But whether citizen's arrest could validate a peace officer's otherwise non-authorized exercise of arrest authority was "not a question presented here for determination" because the case did not involve a single act by a peace officer—it involved an official policy of the State Highway Commission. *Id.* "The record clearly shows that defendants acted, and in the future will act, officially and under orders from the Highway Commission," the Court stated. *Id.*

In other words, the Iowa Supreme Court refused to recognize citizen's arrest as a defense to an agency <u>policy</u> whereby State employees acted beyond the scope of their authority. Accordingly, the same argument the IDOT uses to justify its actions in excess of § 321.477 is the same argument that was

raised and rejected in *Merchants Motors*. The fact that IDOT employees acted pursuant to an official policy defeats the IDOT's citizen's arrest defense.

It is also immaterial that the officers in *Merchants Motor* were issuing summonses, while the IDOT officers are issuing uniform citations. The adoption of the uniform citation procedures in Iowa did not broaden IDOT's enforcement authority; it did not abrogate Iowa Code § 321.477. Indeed, the IDOT's use of uniform citations is *worse* than the issuance of a summons because a uniform citation is a charging document. Iowa Code § 805.6. The policy of issuing uniform citations thus is an exercise of power beyond that which was rejected in *Merchants Motor*.

3. State v. Lloyd does not abrogate Merchants Motors.

State v. Lloyd, 513 N.W.2d 742, 743 (Iowa 1994) does not abrogate the holding of *Merchants Motor*. In *Lloyd*, a South Dakota officer attempted to stop the defendant's vehicle in South Dakota because the vehicle lacked lighted taillights. *Id.* at 742. The defendant did not stop but instead crossed over the state line, into Iowa. *Id.* at 742–43. The South Dakota officer followed the defendant into Iowa, completed the stop there, and issued the defendant a warning and ticket for equipment violations. *Id.* at 743. The South Dakota officer also called an Iowa officer to the scene and the Iowa officer charged the defendant with operating while intoxicated. *Id.*

The defendant subsequently attacked the stop based on the South Dakota officer's lack of jurisdiction and asked the court to suppress the evidence gathered as a result of the stop. *Id.* The State could not justify the South Dakota officer's actions under the Uniform Fresh Pursuit Law because the violation that motivated the South Dakota officer to stop the defendant was not a felony, *see id.* at 744, but the State raised citizen's arrest as a defense to the officer's lack of jurisdiction. *Id.*

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